Doninger v: Niehoff et al . - Doc. 1 Att. 1
a7/20,2087 g9:21 NO. 528 PoBe

07/18/2007 8:21:50 AM FAXCOM PAGE © OF 19

RETURN DATE:  8/14/07 : SUPERIOR CCGURT

LAUREN DONINGER, PPA : t
as Guardian and Next Friend of : [
Avery Doninger : J.D. QF NEW BRITAIN
Plaintif, : ;

J

V. :
AT NEW BRITAIN

KARISSA NIEHOFF, and ,

PAULA SGHWARTZ . )
Pafendants : JULY 16, 2007 i

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Now comes Plaintiff, Lauren Doninger, P.R.A., Tor and on behalf of her minor
child. Avery Doninger, to the Superior Court for the Judicial District of New Biitain at

New Britain with the following Complaint for relfef from the decision and order of

Defandanis Karissa Nishoff and Paula Schwartz, summarily dismissinlg said minor chiid
from her pasifion as 2008 class secrefary at Lewis Mills High School Eifnd for other

4

punitive sanctions. In support hereof, the plaintiif state as fallows: ﬁ

COUNT ONE (Prayer for Injunctive Relief) 1
|
1. Atall relevant ime herein, Regional Schoot Distriet #10 (hereinafter
"Region #10") is a regional public board of education, within the meat%’ring of Chapter

164 of the Gonnecticut General Statutes and Connecticut General Sténﬂe § 10-631,
£

which sarves the towns of Burlingtont and Harwinton, Connedlicut.

2. Puhlic high school students who reside in Burlington an:d Harwinton attend
Lewis Mills High Schoo! (hersinafter "L MHS"} in Burlington, a faur-ya'atr secondary
school, covering grades nine through' tweive.

3. Lauren Doringeris the legal guardian and next fiiend of Avery Doninger,
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i
a minor about to enter her senior year of high schoal. Avery Doningar?(heminafter
*Avery”) was at all relevant times, a full time matriculated student at LIZIIHS anda
resident of the fown of Burlingfon. Avery was first elecied fo student ciouncil in her
frashman year, and has bsen elacted secretary for LMHS class of 20[1?8 each year
thereafier. 1

4. Atall tme relevant to this complaint, Defendant Katissa ;lNiehofF.
(hereinafter Defendant Niehoff) is and was the principal of LMHS and '%exercised
supervigory authority regarding student activifies and enfarcement of étatutm and
regulations that parfain fo LMHS, including discipline of enrolied stude[anis.

5, At ail times relevant fo this complaint, Defendant Patla %d‘twartz,
(hareinafier Dafandant Schwariz) Is and was the superintendent of sciwoois for Regional
#10 appainted by the Region $#10 Board of Education, and refzined ut:iimate stipervisary
authotity over the actions of administrators, with said school system, ilim!uding review of
disciplinary sancfions against students enrolled in Regian #10 schoo‘si

6.  Atall fimes relevant hersto, and in all their actions descr%bed hersin,
Defendants Nishoff and Schwartz acted jointly a$ well as severally, arEd under the color
of their authority as Region #10 schoo! administrators and under color; of s’ca‘;e law.

7. Onor about Apiil 24, 2407 the LMHS student council wazs told by their
facuity adviser that “Jamfest” could not be held in the auditorium on Afpril 28, 2007, as
smeduigd, because there was not a staff member available to run thi new equipment.
*Jamfesf” is an annual event 21 LMHS also known as "Batlle of the Bé}xds" organized by
the student councll, where local rusicians perform for members of I'.hé community.

8. As a resuft, of the information conveyed to the student (;i:ouncil on or
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about April 24, 2007, another siudent councii member sent out an a-;‘:maii o LMHS
parents and students encouraging fhem to call the Region #10 baarc% of education and
express their support for “Jamfest” The e-mall was “signed® by foux%studems, inciuding
Avery, but drafted and transmitted by another LMHS student. l

9. Sometime after the aforementioned e-mail was sent, A‘i{rery encountared
Defendant Nichoff the same day in tha hallway at LMHS. Dafendanilz Niehoff scolded
Avery for the e-mail that was writlen and sent by the alher student. Several phone calls
were received by the hoatd of edusation offices, that Defendant Schgwanz was angered
by the e-mnail, and that the school board's office had recoived seVer:]al calls ragarding
“Jamfest.” Defendant Nishoff told Avery that “Jamfest” may be cancelied.

10.  Thereafter, Avery fold several students that she had been informed that

“Jamfest” was cancellad.

11, Still fater on or about April 24, 2007 at approximately 9125 p.m., Avery

used her persanal computer while at home to post a comment on an online live journal,
{also known as a “blog") sialing that * "Jamfest’ is cancelled dus to djuuch&hags in
central office. Here is an email that we sent out to 4 ton of peopie a%nd asked them to
forward ta everyone in their address book to help get support forjanifest Basically,
becauss we sont it out, Paula Schwariz is getting @ TON [sic] of phodne calls and emails
and such. We have so much suppott and we reslly appreciate it. HEowevar, ghe got
pissed off and decided 1o just cancel the whole thing all together. An%ddd [sici so
basically we aren’t going to have itat all, but in the slightest chance \i.va doitis going to
be after the talent show an may 18, Anddd [sic]...hers is the letter \f#e sentoutfo

parents.” Avery then attached the e-mall sent earlier and a letter dra:ﬂed by the plaintiff
3 H
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1o Defendant Schwartz, and encouraged other parenis to contact tha Region #10
administration.
11, Avery’s comment was pested on the website “iivejournal.com,” which

describes itself as “...an oniine joumaling community, where peaple from around the

world share stories, discuss tapics and keep in touch with friends. It'< 2 fres service that

you can use for meeting people and creating bonds through wiiting zﬂnd sharing.” The

online joumal was a pubiic forum that was not sponsorsd by ar assoéiated whh Region

#10, in any manner.
12, Onorabout Apri 26, 2007, Defendants Niehoff and Schwartz, and

tha student counci! faculty advisor met with Avery and the three other signatories o the

April 24 e—maiﬁ fo clarify where and when “Jamfest” could be held. The defendants

instrucied the four students to sand out a darification e-mall stafing that "Jamfest”
would be rescheduled for June 8%, and that the previous e-mail wasla result of a lack
of communication bstween school officials and the student council. ?n e-mall
announcing the new date for “Jamfest” and axplaining the lack of cm:\mumwtion, wag

sant by one of the other students, 1

13.  On or about May17, 2007, when Avery want 1o tha ofﬁoja o accept her ro-
nomingtion for class secretary, Defendant Niehoff banded a hard cc|")y of the April 24,

2007 livsjournal.com blog entry and told Avery to do three things: ’

(1) apologize to Defendant Schwartz for the Jounial entry;

(2) tedl her mother about the journal entry; and
{3) immediately resign as 2008 dass secrefary aljxd withdraw her
candidacy for re-alection to that position. ;
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14, Avery agreed 1o apologize to Defendant Schwartz for this journal entry and
did so in writing. ‘

15.  Avary also agreed to teli her mother about her journat eﬁtry, and showad it
to har when she came home from school that day.

16.  Avery refused to resign from her efected post. Thexeup;:m. Defondant
Niehoff summarily dismissed Avery from her position and disqualified|her from running

for reralection, as a result of the jeumal entry. At ths time, Avery was the only

candidate who had accepted a nomination for 2008 dass secretary, ajnd expecied o be

elected by acclamation. . :

17.  Defendant Niehoff pmvidéd no appeal procass or oppoxitunityto chalienge

the arbitrary and unilateral punitive actions against Avery.
18.  Onor about May 21, 2007 Nishoff told the plaintiff that Avery could not

run for 2008 class secrstary because she had forfelted that “privilsgs’ due to the

content of her online journal.

19.  On orabeut May 21, 2007 plaintiff requested that Defen[ciant Niehoff
provide documentation fo justify the unilateral action taken against A\}ery. Dsfendant
NiehofF sent the plaintiff written matarlal that fajlad to address either "di\a plairtifi’s
concems or a lawful jusiification for the punitive measures. i

20.  On orabout May 22, 2007 the plaintiff sent Defendant hiiehoff an e-mail
requesting a meating to reconsider the aforamentionsd measures aga]llnst Avery.
Although, Defendant Niehoff initially offerad to meet with ihe plaintiif, the plaintiff and
Defendant Nighoff were unable fo agree on a date, and Defendant Niishoﬁ never

replied lo the plaintiff's proposed list of altermative dates,

5
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21.  Onor about May 24, 2007, NBC 30 Connecticut New:‘; television
broadcast an interview with the plaintiff and Avery discussing the joéxmal antry and the
sanctions imposed by the defendants against Avery. :i

22.  On or about May 24, 2007, Avery asked her dvics teaé:her if she could
discuss the NBC30 felevision interview and the speech tights of high school students,
The oivics teacher asked Avery questions abdul the interview and ié:sues raised during
class. |

23.  later that day, Avery was summoned ta Defendant Nighoff's office from
her chemistry class and ondered by Defandant Nishoff not to talic alqut the television

!
interview in the school. As a result of this admonition, Avery missed twenty minutss of

her chemistry class, ]

24.  Onor about May 25, 2007, Avary wore ko school a shiit impr'mtéd with the
message “R.1P. DEMOCRACY." Qther students with Avery wore pi-e—printed shirts that
stated "Team Avery” on the front and *Support LSM Frestom of Sg:eech" on the back,
These shirts dearly contained messages supporting Avery and her icandidacy for dass
secretarny,

25. While Avery was camying a similar “Team Avery” shiré Defendant Nighoff
came up to her and other siudents wearing the shirts, and prohibibacgi the students from
entsring the auditoriim, whare class officer candidates wauld be gi\j;ing speeches,
uniess they removed the shins. u

26.  Although Avery had not donned the “Team Avery” shiri she was canying,
she feared adverse consequences of wearing the shirt and was chilled In her
constitutional rights by the actions of Defendant Niehoff. [ L

6
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27.  The shirts were not likely o cause a disruption ta the edi:maﬁanal procass
at LMHS and did nat violate other students’ rights or the schoo! dress |sode. Stidents
at LMHS ame permitted by Region #10 policy to wear shirts with printed messagss and
statements except for certain language unrelated to this action. i

28.  On or ahout May 25, 2007, In the auditorium tiring the candidate
spaaches some students called oyt for Avery fo speak. Defendant Nighoff told those
students that if they were *disrespaciful” their voles would not be counted. Defandant
Niehoff's comments were specifically intended to provent Avery from speaking or

pursuing her candidacy for dass secrefary.

29.  Avery was prohibited from addressing her class and giving a spsech in
support of her nomination becauss of Defendant Niehatf's arbihfaryan!d capricious
actions in retaliation for the publication of the biog. 1

30.  Defendant Niehoff hand-picked anather student in replaci:e Avery as class
secretary. and that studant was elected to that position, after Dafendag':t Niehoff
disqualifiad Avery from being 2 candidate. 1

31. Defendant Niehoff caused a discipline log entry to appeair in Avery's
quidance fils falsely stating that Avery inappropriately used school conilputers to send
unauthorized e-mails. The log also falsely stated that there was a foll?w up
canversation with students on April 25, 2007 regarding “appropriate usE:e of computers,
appropriate communication strategies for resclition of conflict, responLibiliﬂes of class
officer as representative of student body,” although no such conversa Jon had oscumed.
Said entry was retaliation for Avery’s exercise of her constitutional righ'alts and createt as

part of the conspiracy to conceal the uniawful misconduct of the déferﬁﬂants.
7
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32.  Defendant Niehoff previously infarmed both the plaintiff :“;.\nd Avery
that there wouid be no adverss consequences for the e-mail that was ﬂFent by an other
student, to which Avery's name was added.
33.  On or about June 8, 2007 Defendant Nishoff admitted to’ the plaintiff

that Avary had not sent the April 24, 2007 e-mail to parents, hut sincalher name was

included she must take responsibility for it. The statement that Avery was "responsible”
for the e-mafl was part of the defendants’ conspiracy to conceal thalr lﬁ'nmnsﬁtuﬁonal
punitive actions fowards Avery.

34.  Onorabout June 8, 2007, plaintiff appeasled to Defendaft Schwartz in
writing requesting that she reverse the punitive actions of Defendant léiehoff.

35.  Onar about June 11, 2007, Defendant Schwariz mpon?ded to plaintiff
that Dsfendant Niehoff's “declslon is not negotiable at this point. |

36, On or about.June 15, 2007, plainif metjointly with Defendants Nichoff
and Schwartz in an effort to overfum the unconstitutional retaliatory méaasures against
Avery. The defendants verbally refused to reconsider their unconstitutional and
unlawful actions against Avery. 2

37.  Onor about June 20, 2007, Defendant Schwariz informe:jd the plaintiff
in writing that the aforedescribed sanclions against Avery would not bé reversed.

38.  The actions of the defendants as sfaresaid have caused|ireparabls harm
in #ie plaintif for which there Is no adequate remedy of law. .

39.  The facts as sat forth, demonstrate probable success onlthe merits and

balancing of equifies in her favor.

}
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COUNT TWO {violation of Const. Art. 1, § 4)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 39 of the First Count are herebyjreauaged in this

Second Count, as if fully sst fourth herein. LI

40.  The defendants took adverse punitive measures again{gt Avery Doninger
as a direct result of Avery’s expression of opinion in writing about pui:vlic officials’
actians on a public infemet website. E
41, Defendants violated Avery's rights undsr Connecticut Gonstittion Art. 1, §

4 by restricting her ability as a Connecticut cltizen to freely speak, wiits andfor publish

i

her sentiments ort a matter of concem.
COUNT THREE (violation of Gonst. Art. I, § 5) |

1. Paragraphs 1 through 39 of the First Count are herebyjrealieged in this

Third Ceunt, as i fully set fourth herain |
40. The defendanis ourtaﬂed and restrained Avery's speech and right to

publish by their arbitrary and capricious action in violation of Con nachcut Constitufion,
Article [, § 5.

COUNT FOUR (violation of Const. Art. |, § 14)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 39 of the First Count are hensby realleged in this
Fourth Gount, gs if fully set fourth harein,

40.  As a Conneclicut citizen Avery possessad the right fo appiy to those

invested with the powers of government of Region #10 for redress oégﬁevancas or

other proper purpases, by patition, address or remonsirance and dxd3so. but was [

punished as a resuli. :

|
|
|
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41.  The defendants viclated Aveny's rights under Connectiot Canstitution,
Articie |, § 14.

COUNT FIVE (intantional Infllction of emotional disiress)

1. Paragraph 1 through 38 of the First Count are hereby m?bﬂeged in this
Fifth Count, as if fully se fourth herein. |

40. Defendants Niehoff and Schwarlz knew or shetld hava lEcnown that their
arbitrary and capricious actions of punishing Avary would infiict emoﬁ:omi disfress,

41. Defandants’ conduct was willful and/or wanton and \do!aixted federal ang
state constitutional right fo speech, pefition, publication and remonstrance without
affording her the right to due process. Defendanis’ conduct was alsoiextreme and
ouirageoaus in that they singled out Avery for unfair treatment to retaﬁssxfe for hex
sonsiitidionally protected expression and viotated her right fo equal péotecﬁon under the
law.

42.  Defendants’ actions, as aforesaid, directly caused emofional distress to
both the plaintiff and to Avery.

43.  Thus distress, is expected 10 continue snd be permanar%t in nature,

Avery remains in continual fear she will suffer retaliation because of P't]lerconsiituﬁnnaﬂy-
1
protected activity. :

44, The actions of the defandants, as aforesaid, have causéd injury fo the
plaintiff and her daughtsr.

i

COUNT SIX (Title 42 U.S.C, § 1983, the Givii Rights Act)

|

1. Paragraphs 1 through 38 of the Firsi Count ara hereby reafleged in this
|
i

10

i
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Sixth Count, as I fully set fourth heroin.

40.  Paragraphs 40 to 4 of the Fifth Gount are hereby realldged in this Sith
Count. J.

44.  The defendanis acted jointly and in conspiracy io viotatej Avery's
consfitutional rights, 1

45.  Defendants Nishoff and Schwartz violated the following L:Iearly

sstablished constitutional right of the plaintff and Avery: .
(A)  Theright io fram speech, expression, petition, and pmbast in viglation of

the first amendment of the United States Constitution; 4

{B) Theright to due process of law, in violation of tha fourte;anﬂl amandment

to the United States Constitution.

(C)  The right to the equal protection of the faw in violation oﬁ the fourteenth
amendment {o the United States Constitution.

46. The actions of the defendants, as aforesaid, violated Tile 42, United
States Code, §§ 1983 and 1988.

i1
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WHEREFORE, the plaintiff secks the following relicf, and requests tﬁat the Court, grant
1

the following relief, i

A. As o the First Count:

1. That any band requirements ba walved because the dlaim is based upon violations

of constitutional rights;

2. Enter preliminary and permanent injunctions, enjaining the defend;%nts from:

(@) Removing Avery from the pasition of LMHS zooé class secretary
and by reinstating her to that position in good sta;nding untit a new
and fair election Is held where Avery is a candfdafte;

(b)  Allowing any student council mesiings or activiﬁés 1o take place
until a new elaction for class secrotary to be held two weeks into
the 2007-2008 scheol year, allowing plaintiff and|other candidates
adequate time to campaign and present speschas to the senior
class in a formal assembly, which will be atten by the class of
2008, the faculty and fhe defendants;

(¢}  maintainhing any disciplinary remarks in the plaintiffe academic or

guidance department files pertaining to the cfalmjs arising from this

campigint, g

@)  inlimidating, threstening or taking other punitive aic!ion against
Avely and other studsnis, for campaigning for claiss secretary by
\maan‘ng or disptaying shirls, that advocate the el :ciion of Avary
and/or student speech rights in general; 1

12
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i
'
i
|
i
H

{s) intimidating, threatening or taldng other punitive action against the
plaintiff or Avery for exercising their first amend%ment rights,
including the filing of this action, or for speaking abaut her rights in
appropriats class and on-campus setings; 1

(i  intimidating, threatening or taking other puniti\nj action against eny

student voting for or advoceting on behalf of, Aw'véry or for her re-
election to the position of 2008 EMHS dlass sscretary:
{d)  preventing Avery from addressing the entire class of 2008, in

special assembly, or from speaking at the zoceioommencement

and graduation ceremony; §
1
3. Award costs of this Action: and

4. Grant such other and further refief as this court desms proper and just.

B. As io the Second, Third, Fourth and Fifth Counts: |
1. Award compensatory damages to the Plaintiff;

2. Award punitive damages to the Plaingif, in the form of atforney’s fees and non-

taxable costs:

3. Award cosis of this action:

4. Enter prefiminary and permanent injunctions, in the fonm set forth in paragraph A2 of
3
the prayer for relief in Count One; and :

5. Grant such other and further relief as this Court deems proper an:d just.
{

|
|

13
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C. As to the Sixth Count: :
1. Award compensatory darmages 1o the Plaintiff; [.
2. Award punitive damages 1o the Plaintiff; J
3. Award costs of this action; ;
4. Award attorney's fees pursuant to 42 u.S.C. §1988; ]

3. Waive any band requiremnents;

i
6. Enter preliminary and permanent injunctions, enjoining the defendai'lfs in the form set

fourth in Paragraph A.2 of the First Count; and

7. Grant such cther and further relief as this court deems proper and just
|
!
|
]

Dated at Hartford, Connecticut this 16™ day of July, 2007.

THE PLAINTIFF -
LAUREN DONINGER,|P.P A., for
AVERY DONINGER, A MINOR

Jon L. Schoenhom
Commissioner of the Superior Coprt
Jon L. Schosnhom & Associates, LLC
108 Qak Street
Hartford, CT 058103
Jutis No. 406505
Her Attorney
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